IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1828

DADELAND STATION ASSOCIATES, LTD. and DADELAND DEPOT, INC.,

Appellants,

-VS-

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY, et al.,

Appellees.	

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS ON THE MERITS

On Appeal from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

LIGGIO, BENRUBI & WILLIAMS, P.A. 1615 Forum Place, Ste. 3B
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
and
PHILIP M. BURLINGTON, P.A. 2001 Professional Building/Suite 205
2001 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.
West Palm Beach, FL 33409
(561) 253-0400
(561) 253-0402 (fax)
Attorneys for Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellants accept the Eleventh Circuit's summary of the underlying and procedural facts of this case, contained in the "Background" portion of its opinion (A2-7). However, there is one error in the Eleventh Circuit opinion which requires correction. On page 7 of the opinion, the Eleventh Circuit states that Dadeland's claims are for bad faith refusal to settle under §624.155(1)(b)(1), Fla. Stat., and §626.9541(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1999). The latter statutory citation is in error, as the Plaintiffs' Complaint alleged that Defendants violated §624.9541(1)(i), Fla. Stat. (R1-1).

¹/Section 626.9541(1)(a), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, addresses misrepresentations and false advertising of insurance policies; while §626.9541(1)(i), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, addresses unfair claims settlement practices.

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS

QUESTION I

IS THE OBLIGEE OF A SURETY CONTRACT CONSIDERED AN "INSURED" SUCH THAT THE OBLIGEE HAS THE RIGHT TO SUE THE SURETY FOR BAD-FAITH REFUSAL TO SETTLE CLAIMS UNDER §624.155(1)(b)(1), FLA. STAT.

QUESTION II

DOES THE LANGUAGE IN §624.155(1)(b)(3), <u>FLA. STAT.</u>, ELIMINATE §626.9541, <u>FLA. STAT.</u>'S REQUIREMENT OF PROOF OF A GENERAL BUSINESS PRACTICE WHEN THE PLAINTIFF IS PURSUING A §626.9541, <u>FLA. STAT.</u>, CLAIM THROUGH THE RIGHT OF ACTION PROVIDED IN §624.155, <u>FLA. STAT.</u>?

QUESTION III

IS AN ARBITRATOR'S FINDING THAT A SURETY'S PRINCIPAL HAS BREACHED ITS DUTY TO THE OBLIGEE, AND THAT THE SURETY IS BOUND TO THE ARBITRATION AWARD TO THE EXTENT THAT ITS PRINCIPAL IS BOUND, SUFFICIENT TO SATISFY THE CONDITION PRECEDENT TO A LATER BAD-FAITH REFUSAL TO SETTLE CLAIM THAT THERE BE A PRIOR ADJUDICATION THAT THE PLAINTIFFS WERE ENTITLED TO A PAYMENT OF A CLAIM FROM THE SURETIES?

QUESTION IV

IS THE ARBITRATOR'S DECISION RES JUDICATA BARRING DADELAND'S LATER CLAIM AGAINST THE SURETIES FOR BAD-FAITH REFUSAL TO SETTLE?

QUESTION V

WILL AN ARBITRATOR'S DENIAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES IN A BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM COLLATERALLY ESTOP THE SAME DEFENDANTS FROM RAISING THE SAME DEFENSES IN A SUBSEQUENT BADFAITH REFUSAL TO SETTLE CLAIM AGAINST THE SAME PLAINTIFF?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The obligee of a surety contract should be considered an insured who is entitled to bring a cause of action for statutory bad faith pursuant to §624.155(1)(b)(1), Fla. Stat. The Florida Legislature has explicitly included surety contracts within the ambit of the Florida Insurance Code, and has clearly stated that sureties are deemed "insurers" for purposes of those statutory provisions. Furthermore, the legislature has specifically provided that obligees under performance bonds should be considered insureds or beneficiaries for purposes of the statutory award of fees when they prevail against an insurer, i.e., surety, see §627.756(1), Fla. Stat. Furthermore, the relationship between a surety and the obligee is essentially identical to that which exists between an insurer and an insured. By virtue of the performance bond, the obligee is attempting to insure itself against the consequences of the principal's failure to satisfy its contractual obligations. Thus, the surety's primary obligation is to protect the obligee, and it has a duty to act in good faith in satisfying that duty. For these reasons, the obligee should be considered the insured in the context of a surety contract. Therefore, the first certified questions should be answered in the affirmative.

The trial court erred in ruling that Plaintiffs had to prove that the unfair claims practices alleged in the Complaint were committed with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice. While that requirement is included in §626.9541(1)(i)(3),

<u>Fla. Stat.</u>, the statute authorizing a civil action for violations of that statute specifically states that the plaintiff does not need to prove a general business practice requirement in a private civil action for compensatory damages, §624.155(1)(b)3, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> The only reasonable construction of that statutory language is that the requirement does not apply in a statutory bad faith suit. Therefore, question two should be answered in the affirmative.

By prevailing in the arbitration, the Plaintiffs clearly satisfied the condition precedent to an action for bad faith brought pursuant to §624.155, Fla. Stat. This Court has clearly and consistently held that all a plaintiff needs to obtain as a condition precedent to a statutory bad faith claim is a determination of damages and that there was a valid claim under the insurance contract. This can be satisfied by a judicial determination, an arbitration award, or even a settlement. In the case <u>sub judice</u>, it is undisputed that the Plaintiffs obtained a favorable ruling in the arbitration, which determined that they had a valid claim against Walbridge and the sureties for damages of approximately \$1.4 million. Under Florida law that clearly satisfied the requisite condition precedent for a statutory bad faith claim. Therefore, the third certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

Plaintiffs' statutory bad faith claims are not barred by <u>res judicata</u> based upon the arbitration award. As indicated in the previous paragraph, Plaintiffs had to obtain

a favorable determination of their claim against Walbridge and the surety as a condition precedent to bring a statutory bad faith claim. Florida law is clear that until that condition precedent is satisfied, the statutory bad faith claim does not accrue. Therefore, Plaintiffs' bad faith claim could not have been brought in the arbitration proceeding and, as a matter of law, could not be barred by the arbitration award under the doctrine of <u>res judicata</u>. For these reasons, the fourth certified question should be answered in the negative.

Defendants' third and fourth affirmative defenses should be barred by collateral estoppel based on the arbitration award. These exact issues were raised by the sureties in the arbitration proceeding and decided adversely to them. The relitigation of issues raised in arbitration is generally barred, absent exceptional circumstances which clearly do not exist here. Therefore, the sureties are collaterally estopped to raise the identical defenses in this proceeding, which were explicitly rejected in the arbitration award. For these reasons, the fifth certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

ARGUMENT

QUESTION I

IS THE OBLIGEE OF A SURETY CONTRACT CONSIDERED AN "INSURED" SUCH THAT THE OBLIGEE HAS THE RIGHT TO SUE THE SURETY FOR BAD-FAITH REFUSAL TO SETTLE CLAIMS UNDER §624.155(1)(b)(1), FLA. STAT.

Standard of Review

By their nature, certified questions are solely issues of law and, therefore, should be considered under the <u>de novo</u> standard, <u>Blanton v. City of Pinellas Park</u>, 2004 WL 2359991 (Fla. 2004).

Argument

The issue whether the obligee of a surety contract is deemed an insured for purpose of §624.155(1)(b)(1), Fla. Stat., is a question of statutory construction and, therefore, is to be determined by the legislative intent as expressed in the Florida Statutes. There can be no doubt that the Florida Legislature considers surety contracts to constitute a form of insurance, and that sureties are deemed "insurers" for purposes of, inter alia, the Florida Insurance Code, §624.01, Fla. Stat., et seq., for which §624.155, Fla. Stat., provides a "civil remedy." However, since the Florida Insurance Code does not define the term "insured," its meaning must be derived

contextually from applicable legislation and it is clear by the nature of the relationships between the parties to a surety contract that the obligee is the only party which could be properly characterized as an "insured." Thus, consistent with the majority view in the United States, an obligee should be entitled to pursue a cause of action against a surety for bad faith in the claims handling process.

The Florida Insurance Code expressly contemplates that sureties will be subject to its provisions, §624.01, Fla. Stat., et seq. Section 624.03, Fla. Stat., defines "insurer" as including "every person engaged as an indemnitor, surety, or contractor in the business of entering into contracts of insurance or of annuity" [Emphasis supplied]. This Court has twice noted that "the term 'insurer' is clearly defined under the Florida Insurance Code to include a 'surety," Nichols v. Preferred National Ins. Co., 704 So.2d 1371, 1373 (Fla. 1997); David Boland, Inc. v. Trans Coastal Roofing Co., 851 So.2d 724, 726 n.1 (Fla. 2003).

Additionally, the legislature's definition of "insurance" clearly includes surety contracts, such as the one in this case, within its ambit (§624.02, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>):

"Insurance" is a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another or pay or allow a specified amount or a determinable benefit upon determinable contingencies.

In the context of a performance bond, the surety is agreeing to pay certain amounts to the obligee, or to fund compliance with the underlying contract in the event the principal does not satisfy its contractual obligations. Put another way, the obligee is "essentially insuring itself from the potential losses that would result in the event that the principal defaults on its original obligation," <u>Board of County Road Commissioners v. Michigan Property & Casualty Guaranty Assoc.</u>, 575 N.W.2d 751, 760 n.17 (Mich. 1998).

The Florida Legislature also included surety business within the "kinds of insurance" regulated under the Code, see §624.6011(5), Fla. Stat.; and specifically defines "surety insurance" in a manner that includes the contract at issue in the case subjudice, see §624.606, Fla. Stat. Therefore, it appears incontrovertible that sureties are compelled to comply with the provisions of Florida's Insurance Code, see, §624.11(1), Fla. Stat.

The issue whether sureties are subject to the Civil Remedy contained in the Florida Insurance Code was raised by the Defendants in this case in their Motion to Dismiss, which was denied by United States District Judge Kenneth L. Ryskamp (R24). In addition to relying on the plain meaning of the language in §624.03, Fla. Stat. and §624.155, Fla. Stat., Judge Ryskamp concluded under general principles that a statutory bad faith suit could be brought against a surety under Florida law (R24-8-9):

Defendants first contend that suretyship and insurance are not the same thing. Although differences exist between the two, "it has been the general holding of the

courts that a bond executed upon a consideration by a bonding company, to secure the performance of a building contract, is in effect a contract of insurance and should be construed as such." 43 Am.Jur.2d Insurance §6 (1982). This makes sense when considering the purpose behind a performance bond, which is "to ensure the physical completion of the work upon default, and to insure against any losses which the owner may suffer if performance default occurs." Fla.Bd. of Regents v. Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Md., 416 So.2d 30, 32 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), analysis rejected on other grounds, Fed. Ins. Co. v. Southwest Fla. Retirement Center, Inc., 707 So.2d 1119 (Fla. Feb. 12, 1998), reh'g denied (April 2, 1998). In essence, the bond "insures" the obligee that he will not be at risk of nonperformance of the contract by the contractor. although differences exist between suretyship insurance, those differences do not draw a distinction sufficient to hold that an obligee under a performance bond may not bring a civil action against the surety under §624.155.

Judge Ryskamp also relied on the published opinion of the successor judge in this case, United States District Judge Daniel T.K. Hurley, in <u>Shannon R. Ginn Const.</u>

<u>Co. v. Reliance Ins. Co.</u>, 51 F.Supp.2d 1347 (S.D.Fla. 1999). In that opinion, albeit in <u>dicta</u>, Judge Hurley stated that (51 F.Supp.2d at 1351):

Florida treats sureties so much like ordinary insurers that sureties, in certain circumstances, may be liable for bad faith.

Judge Hurley also noted in that opinion that the inclusion of sureties within the Florida Insurance Code was "strong evidence that Florida intended to hold surety insurers to the same standards as ordinary insurers" (51 F.Supp.2d at 1350).

However, in <u>Ginn Construction</u>, the principal on a performance bond was seeking to pursue a bad faith claim against the surety, and Judge Hurley determined that the principal was not an "insured" within the meaning of §624.155(1)(b)1, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> However, he stated that since the obligee looks to the surety for protection from the risk, the surety owes a duty of good faith to the obligee, and that if any party had a claim for statutory bad faith against the surety it would be the obligee, 51 F.Supp.2d at 1352. Judge Hurley stated (<u>Id</u>):

Because the obligee looks to the surety for protection from calamity, the surety owes a duty of good faith to the obligee.

* * *

The Fourth District Court of Appeal of California observed that "it is not the duty of the surety to protect the principal as if the principal were the insured under an insurance policy. The surety's duty runs to the third party obligee." Schmitt v. Insurance Co. of North America, 230 Cal.App.3d 245, 281 Cal.Rptr. 261, 269 (1991). Thus, as Reliance contends, if any party has a claim for bad faith failure to settle under section 624.155(1)(b)1, Fla. Sta., it would be the County, the obligee under the performance bond.

See also, Masterclean, Inc. v. Star Ins. Co., 556 S.E.2d 371, 376 (S.C. 2001) ("The [surety] bond is designed to protect the obligee not the principal").

This rationale is consistent with the inclusion of sureties within Florida Insurance Code and, specifically, the legislature's treatment of obligees for purposes of attorney fees awards. Section 627.428(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, provides for an insured or "named beneficiary" to obtain an attorney fee award when it prevails in a judgment against an insurer. Section 627.756(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> states:

(1) Section 627.428 applies to suits brought by owners, subcontractors, laborers, and materialmen against a surety insurer under payment or performance bonds written by the insurer under the laws of this state to indemnify against pecuniary loss by breach of a building or construction contract. Owners, subcontractors, laborers, and materialmen shall be deemed to be insureds or beneficiaries for the purposes of this section.

²/Section 627.428(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, states:

⁽¹⁾ Upon the rendition of a judgment or decree by any of the courts of this state against an insurer and in favor of any named or omnibus insured or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer, the trial court or, in the event of an appeal in which the insured or beneficiary prevails, the appellate court shall adjudge or decree against the insurer and in favor of the insured or beneficiary a reasonable sum as fees or compensation for the insured's or beneficiary's attorney prosecuting the suit in which the recovery is had.

Thus, clearly, the legislature recognizes that obligees are, as a practical matter, the insured for purposes of performance bonds.

The legislature's recognition that an obligee is the insured in the context of a performance bond is consistent with the majority of courts in the country which have recognized the viability of a bad faith claim by an obligee against a surety, see <u>Dodge v. Fidelity and Deposit Co. of Maryland</u>, 778 P.2d 1240 (Ariz. 1989); <u>TransAmerica Premier Ins. Co. v. Brighton School District 27J</u>, 940 P.2d 348 (Col. 1997); <u>Suver v. Personal Service Ins. Co.</u>, 462 N.E.2d 415 (Ohio 1984); <u>Loyal Order of Moose</u>, <u>Lodge 1392 v. International Fidelity Ins. Co.</u>, 797 P.2d 622 (Ark. 1990); <u>Szarkowski v. Reliance Ins. Co.</u>, 404 N.W.2d 502 (N.D. 1987); <u>K-W Industries v. National Surety Corp.</u>, 754 P.2d 502 (Mont. 1988); <u>International Fidelity Ins. Co. v. Delmarva Systems Corp.</u>, 2001 WL 541469 (Del. Super. 2001).

The relationship between the surety and the obligee is characterized as being "direct, primary, and absolute," as opposed to the obligation to the principal, which is accessory or collateral, see 74 Am.Jur.2d Suretyship §1 quoted in In the Matter of the Liquidation of Integrity Ins. Co., 657 A.2d 902, 907 (N.J.App. 1995), aff'd, 685 A.2d 1286 (N.J. 1996). As noted by the Michigan Supreme Court in Board of County Road Commissioners, supra, 575 N.W.2d at 760 n.17:

A special relationship exists between a commercial surety and an obligee that is nearly identical to that involving an insurer and an insured. [Quoting <u>TransAmerica</u>, <u>supra</u>, 940 P.2d at 352.]

See also, Loyal Order of Moose, supra, 797 P.2d at 628 ("In our view the relationship of a surety to its obligee - - an intended creditor third party beneficiary - - is more analogous to that of an insurer to its insurer than to a relationship between an insurer and an incidental third party beneficiary").

The legislature's rationale of including surety insurance within the Florida Insurance Code is also consistent with the policy considerations underlying the regulation of insurance and the existence of a cause of action for bad faith. The Colorado Supreme Court stated in <u>TransAmerica</u>, <u>supra</u>, 940 P.2d at 353:

Although the parties to a suretyship agreement are on equal footing in terms of bargaining power when they enter into the agreement, it is the commercial surety who controls the ultimate decision of whether to pay claims made by the obligee under the terms of the surety bond. For this reason, the commercial surety has a distinct advantage over the obligee in its ability to control performance under the secondary agreement. As with insurers, commercial sureties must proceed with the payment of claims made pursuant to a surety bond in good faith, Otherwise, the core purpose of the suretyship agreement, which is to insulate the obligee from the risk of a default, is defeated.

The Arizona Supreme Court expressed similar concerns in <u>Dodge</u>, <u>supra</u>, 778 P.2d at 1243. Both courts also recognize that the contractual measure of damages does not

compensate the obligee for the commercial surety's unreasonable failure to pay a claim, and also would not deter such misconduct by sureties in the future, <a href="https://doi.org/10.2016/j.jps.10.

It is also significant that while the courts in the cases cited above addressed whether an obligee had a common law bad faith cause of action against a surety, some of them relied, in part, on the fact that their legislatures had included sureties within the regulatory scheme governing insurance, including characterizing sureties as insurers, see TransAmerica, supra, 940 P.2d at 352; Dodge, supra, 778 P.2d at 1241-42. While here the issue is one of statutory construction, the same general principles apply to analyzing the relationship between the obligee and the surety.

This Court's decision in <u>State Farm Fire & Casualty Ins. Co. v. Zebrowski</u>, 706 So.2d 275 (Fla. 1997), which involved a third party bad faith claim does not suggest a different result. In that case, an injured party who had obtained a judgment against the tortfeasor had sued the tortfeasor's liability insurer for bad faith refusal to settle, pursuant to §624.155(1)(b)(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> However, the judgment was within the liability limits of the policy, and the insurer had satisfied the judgment. This Court held that the statutory duty provided in that subsection of §624.155, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, only ran to the insured, and that in the absence of an excess judgment, a third party could not demonstrate that the insurer had breached that duty to its insured. For that reason, the

third party in that case could not pursue a statutory bad faith claim against the liability insurer.

In the context of surety bonds, the surety owes an obligation of good faith to the obligee to reasonably investigate and settle claims made under the bond. As noted previously, that duty is not owed to the principal, but only to the obligee. Thus, the statutory duty upon which the Plaintiffs' suit is based in the case <u>sub judice</u> runs directly to the Plaintiffs here (the first party) and, therefore, can be a viable basis for liability against the surety. In <u>Zebrowski</u>, the third party bringing the statutory bad faith claim could not show any breach of that duty, since he had not obtained an excess judgment and, thus, he did not have a viable statutory bad faith claim.

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