### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC04-1828

DADELAND STATION ASSOCIATES, LTD., and DADELAND DEPOT, INC.,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

VS.

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY and AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants/Appellees.

# On Appeal From The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY and AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY, APPELLEES

BUTLER PAPPAS WEIHMULLER
KATZ CRAIG LLP
LEE CRAIG, ESQ.
Florida Bar No.: 0485985
VERONICA D. VELLINES, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 530611
Bayport Plaza, Suite 1100
3000 Bayport Drive
Tampa, Florida 33607-5946
(813) 281-1900
Attorneys for Appellees

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

Ins. Co. v. Centech Bldg. Corp., 286 F. Supp.2d 669, 689 (M.D. N.C. 2003) (court concluded that North Carolina Supreme Court would not recognize a cause of action for bad faith by a bond obligee against a surety); Superior Precast, Inc. v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America, 71 F. Supp.2d 328, 448-454 (E.D. Pa. 1999)(court discussed differences between suretyship and insurance and concluded that legislature did not intend for its insurance "bad faith" statute to apply to sureties).

## D. <u>Permitting Bad Faith Actions by Obligees is Bad Public Policy</u>

The facts of this case demonstrate that construction disputes are not at all like insurance claims and highlight the inherent danger of attempting to treat them as one and the same. Dadeland asserted that Walbridge was in default of its contract and responsible for the entire cost of corrective work on the bonded project. Walbridge, on the other hand, correctly contended that the defects were not mainly its responsibility and refused to perform all the corrective work demanded by Dadeland. When Dadeland called upon St. Paul to complete the corrective work under the Bond, St. Paul was presented with these diametrically opposed views of the operative facts. As a result, and having determined after an investigation that there was merit to Walbridge's position, St. Paul exercised its contractual right under the Bond to deny liability pending the outcome of the Arbitration to which the principal and obligee had agreed under the bonded contract. After thirty-five days of hearings, the arbitrators

determined that Walbridge was liable for less than twenty percent of Dadeland's claimed damages.

Walbridge satisfied the entire portion of the award entered against it, plus interest and attorneys' fees, so that Dadeland did not have to look to St. Paul as secondary obligor. Thus, the parties' contract and Bond worked exactly as they were intended to work. The owner and contractor submitted their dispute to the contractually agreed dispute resolution process; and St. Paul stood ready to satisfy any judgment entered against it in the event its principal, Walbridge, as primary obligor, was unable to fulfill its obligations.

There is nothing unusual about this case and no legitimate purpose is served by granting an obligee rights greater than those set forth in the contract or bond. Indeed, to do so would tilt the contractual playing field inevitably and unfairly in favor of the obligee/owner to the principal/contractor's detriment. Often, as in this case, the surety must weigh competing claims by the principal and obligee and must choose, within a short time frame, to exercise one of its bond options. Under the AIA A312 bond form used in this case – and commonly used in the construction industry – those options include the rights to perform the contract or deny liability. In the event the surety denies liability, it is exposed to damages flowing from the principal's default if the obligee prevails on its claim and the principal is unable to meet its obligations,

including liquidated and consequential damages. Thus, a surety may lose its ability to mitigate its losses if it improvidently elects to deny liability.

In other instances, absent reasonable proof that its principal is in fact in breach and responsible for the alleged incomplete, deficient or improper work and that the obligee's termination of the principal is proper, the surety's most prudent and appropriate action may be a denial of liability, allowing the parties to arbitrate their dispute as is provided typically in construction contracts. If the parties' negotiated playing field is altered by arming obligees with extra-contractual remedies against the surety any time that the surety exercises its contractual right to deny liability pending resort by the principal to the bonded contract's dispute resolution procedure, a surety may suffer undue pressure to side with an obligee, to the unfair detriment of its principal. Indeed, such a result would have been disastrous in this case, because most of the obligee's claim was found by the arbitration panel to be invalid.

Principals and obligees on large construction projects like this one are typically sophisticated parties. The competing rights of the principal and obligee are often the subject of complex agreements, usually drafted by the obligee. There is simply no legitimate public policy to be served by granting an obligee the unique protection afforded insureds who are not similarly situated, thereby effectively providing the obligee with additional leverage in any dispute with the contractor and its surety. In

suretyship, the relative economics and bargaining power are unlike that in the classic insured/insurer relationship, which has caused legislatures and courts to protect insureds from the "uneven playing filed" often present in insurance disputes and litigation.

The potential impact of the result urged by Dadeland will be felt more dramatically by contractors than by sureties. An insurer, unlike a surety, upon the occurrence of the contingency must bear the ultimate loss. But a surety is entitled to indemnity when it is compelled to perform its principal's obligation. If a surety is threatened with the prospect of successive lawsuits arising out of performance claims – i.e., a bad faith lawsuit following the litigation of the underlying dispute – it will invariably be motivated to exert pressure on the principal to accede to the obligee's demands. The instant case is a classic example in which the obligee's claim was largely invalid and was properly submitted to arbitration, rather than paid by the surety over the principal's objection.

A finding that an obligee may not sue a surety for bad faith refusal to settle its claim does not leave an obligee without recourse, because it retains all of its bargained-for contractual remedies. Indeed, those contractual remedies in this case were sufficient to fully compensate Dadeland for the legitimate portion of its entire loss, including interest and attorneys' fees.

Nor would such a finding lessen a surety's incentive to fairly address performance bond claims; a surety remains motivated to promptly resolve such claims. Often a surety can limit its damages if it determines that an obligee's termination was proper and it is then able to promptly arrange for completion of the project. On the other hand, where a surety waives its right to complete or denies liability, it ultimately might be faced with a claim for liquidated damages and completion costs far in excess of the cost for which it could have completed the work.

Finally, allowing a private remedy in favor of an obligee in the performance bond context would inevitably open the door to successive litigation, like in the instant case.

QUESTION II: IF SO, DOES THE LANGUAGE IN §624.155(1)(b)(3) ELIMINATE §626.9541(1)'S REQUIREMENT OF PROOF OF A GENERAL BUSINESS PRACTICE WHEN THE PLAINTIFF IS PURSUING A §626.9541(1)(i)(3) CLAIM THROUGH THE RIGHT OF ACTION PROVIDED IN §624.155?

In certifying this question, the Eleventh Circuit states: "[T]he district court also found that the bad-faith claim [for violations of §626.9541(1)(i) brought pursuant to §624.155(1)(a)] failed because Florida law required evidence that the Sureties' unfair claims settlement practices were frequent enough to be considered their general business practice." (A7) Respectfully, the Eleventh Circuit misread the order of the District Court.

The District Court's order was not based on the requirement of a "general business practice." Rather, the District Court held that:

Dadeland did not raise a claim of unfair claim settlement practices in the arbitration proceeding. In any case, plaintiffs have failed to present any evidence with respect to this claim in response to the defendants' motion for summary judgment. Accordingly, the court deems this claim to be waived.

(R137-27) Thus, the District Court properly held that Dadeland *waived* any claim under §626.9541(1)(i) because it did not present *any evidence* of the acts proscribed by the statute.<sup>10</sup> (R137-27) Therefore, the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit is not determinative of the cause, and need not be reached.

This issue also need not be reached because it rests upon a fundamentally flawed assumption that §624.155 was intended to apply to sureties. Because the Eleventh Circuit began this question with the phrase, "IF SO," this Court need not reach this second question if it determines that an obligee is not an insured in response to question one. In addition, as discussed in the preceding Point, there is no basis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In the one-count complaint, Dadeland alleged St. Paul violated §626.9541(1)(i), by "completely ignor[ing] their duties under the bond." (R1- Exhibit 1) Dadeland's Response to Defendants' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and for Summary Judgment contained nothing in support of this claim. (R137-27)

upon which to conclude that the legislature intended the civil remedy statute would or should apply to sureties.

Should this Court decide that it is necessary to reach this issue, St. Paul submits that \$624.155(1)(b)(3) does not eliminate the "general business practice" component of \$626.9541(1)(i)(3). The whole of Chapter 626 constitutes the "Unfair Insurance Trade Practices Act," (the "UITPA"). The UITPA prohibits, *inter alia*, committing any one of a list of enumerated acts with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice. \$626.9541(1)(i)(3)(a)-(h), Fla. Stat. (2003).

Florida law does not define "general business practice." However, based on generally accepted meanings of the word, a practice would entail a showing that the insurer acted in the proscribed manner habitually or customarily and certainly on more than one claim. *See Ginn*, 51 F. Supp.2d at 1353.

The private cause of action for violation of the UITPA is through §624.155. *See Auto-Owners Inc. Co. v. Conquest*, 658 So. 2d 928, 929 (Fla. 1995). With respect to actions brought by insureds, §624.155(1)(b)(3) provides, in pertinent part, that:

Notwithstanding the provisions of the above to the contrary, a person pursuing a remedy under this section need not prove that such act was committed or performed with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice.

Dadeland argues that this language dispenses with the requirement of proof of a general business practice incorporated into the provisions of \$624.155(1)(a), because that is the only place such language is used in the statute. However, Dadeland does not cite any authority in support of this interpretation.<sup>11</sup> And, Dadeland ignores the plain interpretation that the legislature intended to clarify that its repeated use of multiples and plurals in \$624.155(1)(b)1., 2. and 3. – i.e., "settle claims," "insureds," "beneficiaries," "coverages," etc. – was not intended to create the requirement of proof that the proscribed act was "performed with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice" as is required in \$624.155(1)(a) for violations of the UIPTA. Thus, the language at the end of \$624.155(1)(b)(3) was intended to exempt claims under \$624.155(1)(b) from \$624.155(1)(a)'s requirement of proof of a general business practice.

The federal district courts have routinely interpreted the Florida statute to require proof of a general business practice in cases brought through §624.155(1)(a) for violations of the UIPTA. For example, in *Ticor Title Insurance Company v*.

In its Amicus Curiae Brief for Appellants, the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers argues that the so-called "flush-left clause" in §624.155(1)(b)(3) eliminates the requirement of proving a general business practice. St. Paul does not contend that this provision is only applicable to §624.155(1)(b)(3); rather, it is "flush left" to make it applicable to the entirety of §624.155(1)(b), but not to the separate section (1)(a).

University Creek, Inc., 767 F. Supp. 1127 (M.D. Fla. 1991), the insurer sought a declaratory judgment that it did not violate the UIPTA.<sup>12</sup> The Court determined there was no justiciable controversy because the insured had not alleged violations of \$626.9541(1)(i)(3) with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice.

Similarly, in *Ginn*, in granting the surety's motion for summary judgment on the UITPA claim, the Court determined that the plaintiff must establish that the insurer committed unfair acts with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice. *Ginn*, 51 F. Supp.2d at 1353.

Additionally, this conclusion is consistent with the way the statute is laid out. The sentence in §624.155(1)(b)(3) that eradicates the general business practice requirement is not designated by a letter. Thus, it is encompassed by, and limited to, the previously designated provision of the statute. That means the sentence applies only to civil actions based on the acts enumerated in §624.155(1)(b). The Eleventh Circuit itself recognized this when it cited the italicized language under §624.155(1)(b)(3).

As set forth herein, this issue need not be reached by this Court. However, if Question II is reached, §624.155(1)(a) must be interpreted to require proof of a general

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The insured had served notice of its intent to file an action pursuant to §624.155(1)(a).

business practice, as specifically provided in §626.9541(1)(i)(3), which is incorporated by reference in §624.155(1)(a), and should be answered in the negative.

QUESTION III: IS AN ARBITRATOR'S FINDING THAT A SURETY'S PRINCIPAL HAS BREACHED ITS DUTY TO THE OBLIGEE, AND THAT THE SURETY IS BOUND TO THE ARBITRATION AWARD TO THE EXTENT THAT ITS PRINCIPAL IS BOUND, SUFFICIENT TO SATISFY THE CONDITION PRECEDENT TO A LATER BAD FAITH REFUSAL TO SETTLE CLAIM THAT THERE BE A PRIOR ADJUDICATION THAT THE PLAINTIFFS WERE ENTITLED TO A PAYMENT OF A CLAIM FROM THE SURETIES?

The Eleventh Circuit stated the question more succinctly in the text of its opinion: "Did the arbitration proceeding satisfy Dadeland's condition precedent to filing a bad faith refusal to settle claim pursuant to §624.155, Fla. Stat.?"

If the preceding certified questions are answered as St. Paul contends they must be, it will not be necessary for the Court to reach Question III. However, if the Court reaches the instant question, it must be answered in the negative.

There are three conditions precedent to bringing a civil remedy action under §624.155. First, plaintiff must give 60 days written notice of the statutory violation to the Department and to the insurer. *Section 624.155(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (2003).* Second, there must be a determination, by way of judgment or settlement, that the insurer breached the insurance contract. *Blanchard v. State Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co.*, 575 So. 2d 1289, 1291 (Fla. 1991). Third, there must be an adjudication of damage, or a settlement, in favor of the insured and against the insurer. *Vest v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 753 So.2d 1270 (Fla. 2000).

In *Vest*, this Court clarified the condition and reaffirmed the rule in *Blanchard* that "a cause of action in court for violation of section 624.155 is premature until there is a determination of liability and extent of damages owed on the first-party insurance contract." 753 So. 2d at 1276. *See also Talat Enterprises, Inc. v. Aetna Casualty and Surety Co.*, 753 So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 2000). A condition precedent to a statutory cause of action is an essential element. *Ferry Morse Seed Company v. Hitchcock*, 426 So.2d 958 (Fla. 1983).

Dadeland argues that it satisfied the second and third conditions precedent when the arbitrators determined that Dadeland had a valid claim against Walbridge under the construction contract and awarded damages. This argument ignores the fact that the arbitration panel made no finding that St. Paul failed to perform its obligations under the Bond; indeed, to the contrary, St. Paul acted properly under the Bond and was not ruled to have breached the Bond in any respect.

The insurance concepts which lend themselves to application of the provisions of the civil remedy statute simply do not exist in the surety context. Unlike a typical insurance claim, a performance bond claim arises out of disputes between the parties to an often complex commercial contract. The AIA A312 bond form utilized in this case is carefully crafted to afford the surety an opportunity to investigate such a claim and avail itself of any one of a number of options depending upon the facts of the

case. Specifically, at paragraph 4, St. Paul had the following options upon assertion of the Dadeland claim:

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